EXCURSIONS 1979

Report and notes on some findings

5 May

Stoke by Clare, Stoke College, began temp. Ed. Confessor at Clare, collegiate church of John the Baptist, richest Suffolk church in Domesday Book, with 3,000 acres. Given to Bec abbey in 1090 and became regular Benedictine priory; as such, moved to Stoke 1124, presumed date of Norman core of surviving, apparently cruciform, remains of priory church. Reconstituted a college 1415, operating with dean, 6 canons, 8 vicars etc., by 1423 (V.C.H. ii, 145-6), presumed date of main destruction and conversion of Romanesque building. Last dean, Matthew Parker, spent crucial 12 years of Reformation mainly here till college dissolved 1548. Inventories 1534 and 1548 in Proc. Suff. Inst. Arch., xvii, 1921, 21-77 (hints on plan and arrangement of church, 46-49). 1547, Edward VI sold college to his tutor, John Cheke, Greek scholar and Reformer. Exposed massive groundfloor carved ceiling-beams probably this period. Under Elwes family, here temp. Charles II – Victoria, fine balustered staircase and 2 panelled rooms Queen Anne or early Georgian – the period when the house (now a private school) took its present character. Under Lord Loch, 1897, Lutyens created present front entrance, W. court and walled garden. Free grammar school founded here by Parker, extinguished c. 1780 by notorious miser Elwes. Parish Church, well-endowed in Domesday Book, and with early 'stratified' stonework at S.E. corner of S. aisle (originally the S.E. corner of nave), was originally dedicated to St Augustine, one of three such very early dedications in Suffolk. Late Victorians re-dedicated to John the Baptist, on mistaken assumption, still prevailing, that it served as church to the nearby college. Church remodelled in later 15th century. Doom uncovered 1948, possibly Marian.

Kedington. Brian Charge explained that Romano-British finds beneath nave could no longer be taken to prove church built on R-B site – only that some R-B materials were used, probably from recently found R-B villa site to S. Barnardiston family owed its famous puritanism to Sir John Cheke, of Stoke College. Wall monument representing improbably in effigy Sir Nathaniel, 1588-1653, foremost Suffolk opponent of the Crown, put up after his widow's death in 1669 by son Samuel. At his funeral, their rector had begged her to 'Add to his memory no pictured stone', &c.

29 May

Rushmere St Andrew churchyard sheltered by magnificent yew-hedge planted 1856. 1861, nave and chancel rebuilt by E. C. Hakewill. Parker (Eccles. & Arch. Topog., Suffolk, 1855) already reported 'some good benchends, with poppy-heads, all spoiled by being converted into modern pews.' See Cynthia Brown, above, p. 286. Katherine Cadye, widow, 1522 (Vol. 8, f. 201, Ips. wills), left masons' wages for new steeple 'in like fashion, bigness and workmanship as' that of Tuddenham. Her husband William had made similar bequest in will proved 22 May 1497 (44 Multon. Consist. wills Norwich). Church at that time dedicated to Mary, not Andrew. Kirby, Suffolk Traveller, 1764, noted 'The two steeples do only differ in the form of the battlements.' Cautley, Suffolk Churches, noted at Rushmere 'the pinnacles to the tower, representing the evangelists' emblems, were replaced [1924], though they were copied from the old so far as their weather-worn condition permitted.' New W. window 1863, presumably the main alteration to tower since 1522.

Humberdoucy House, beside Humberdoucy Lane and so just within the ancient Ipswich boundary, pargetted late-medieval house ('? the Cady's'). Sylvia Colman notes: 'Originally open hall with storied upper and lower ends, the ends originally roofed at right-angles to hall.
EXCURSIONS

House re-roofed as single range late 17th century. Good (? early Tudor) moulded ceiling in parlour, and remains of re-sited plank-and-muntin screen. In late 16th century, hall divided horizontally, chimney-stack added, fireplace given ornate classical plaster surround.

*Tuddenham St Martin.* Bequest ‘to the building of the new steeple’ 1458. Pleasant mixture of redbrick with flint in upper 2 of the 3 stages suggests rebuilt late 17th century or early 18th century and explains Kirby’s comment on Rushmere. So pinnacles with evangelists may have been part of original design here. Font given by Richard and Agnes Sylvester 1443: Pevsner complains all recut, but this seems untrue of miniature figures of dead woman in bed (raised by St Martin) and BVM at her devotions. Parker, 1855: ‘The whole of the original open seats remain with their rich panelling and heads in good preservation.’ Cynthia Brown (see above, p. 285) explained how far Parker was deceived. Screen designed 1946 by Munro Cautley.

*Playford Mount,* tall red-brick (with dark headers) house above steep slope on Bealings boundary, designed for his own retirement, 1867, by E. C. Hakewill, 1812-72. His obituary in *Builder,* 2 Nov. 1872, recorded his District Surveyorship of Hanover Square district until 1867, noted that after his retirement then, to Playford, ‘the churches of Wickham Market, Sibton, Stonham Aspall, Grundisburgh and others testify to his abilities and love for this branch of his profession,’ and referred to his earlier work at Rushmere and Myland (Essex). His father Henry (1777-1830) was the most interesting member of this architectural family (see *D.N.B.*), gothicising Rendlesham Hall. Playford Mount was later the home of Francis Seymour Stevenson, M.P. for Eye 1885-1906.

*Great Bealings church.* Dr Daly Briscoe summarised the history of the Seckford family. Cynthia Brown, who organised the design and embroidery of the very fine series of kneelers, spoke on the Victorian wood-carving (see above, p. 286).

26 June

*Great Saxham church and Hall.* Two Domesday holdings at Saxham under St Edmund's abbey, not ‘Great’ and ‘Little’ till 13th century. The larger, 1 league (3 miles) long by 5 furlongs, almost exactly its measurements today—a strip suggesting a planned land-use estate, the N. end lying along Roman road Kentford-Ixworth. Sold to John Eldred 1597. On Eldred and Nutmeg Hall, see *Proc. Suff. Inst. Arch.,* xxv, 1952, 112-115. 1745, estate sold to Hutchison Mure. By 1774 he had rebuilt Hall in Palladian Gothic (Gage, *Thingoe,* illus. facing p. 108): said to be by Robt Adam, who supplied a design in 1763, but not this one. Destroyed by fire, 1779. Adam supplied another design, also not adopted. What was? Rochefoucauld (*A Frenchman in England,* 1784, pp. 150-151) wrote: ‘Mr More’s house is curiously built in the middle of a large, ill-kept park. A year ago it was the stable of a house which had been burnt down. Mr More had two wings added, and the result is a building which is odd without being disagreeable; except for the middle portion the house is on one floor only.’ This entirely credible account of the creation of first floor of present house out of former stable has hitherto been overlooked. In 1788 Craven Ord wrote that after the fire of 1779, the new house was begun ‘from a plan of Mr Adam’, but that Mure completed the house ‘from a plan of his own.’ It is clear from Gage (1838) that Mure built ‘the centre of the mansion,’ which was finished in 1794 by the new owner Thos Mills. Mills employed Joseph Patience, jnr, who added a first floor to the ground floor stable-block and octagonal music-room in rear created by Mure. Patience fronted all with a portico. Later changes to front probably by Wm Mills – pediments to windows replacing original Coade-stone plaques. Wm Mills’ diary asserted, 1818, that Mure ‘spent considerable sums in embellishing the grounds under the great Mr Capability Brown.’ In 1801 Isaac Johnson was employed to survey the estate.
Lady Stirling, the present owner, has seven of Johnson’s drawings, showing: 1, Temple on bridge (between stream and lake): foundations survive; 2, Temple in shrubbery: present ‘Tea-house’; 3, Temple of Dido (ruin now, between lake and rd to Lt Saxham); 4, The Lodge: now Cobbs Hall; 5, The Dairy: now ex-gamekeeper’s house; 6, The Hall; 7, The Church.

**Little Saxham church.** Famous round tower has early-looking stratified stonework. Upper arcade and noble internal W. arch clearly 12th century. Why was 12th-century arch of N. doorway reset inside on S.E. wall of tower? As a setting for font? or for piece of sculpture?

**Hengrave church.** Present ‘dedication’ to St John Lateran is mistake. St John Lateran is not a saint but the oldest of all the churches of Rome. Wm of Worcester in his *Itinerary* noticed that ‘the dedication of Hengrave church took place on 9 November, Feast of the Dedication of St John Lateran’, almost certainly referring to the very early 15th-century re-dedication after the rebuilding here by Sir Thos Hemegrave (died c. 1419) and Joan his mother. Being able to date this most delightful building is helpful in working out the local development of the Perpendicular style.

**Hengrave Hall.** A full reassessment of this remarkable great house by Sylvia Colman is under way.

**14 July**

**Wickham Market church.** Dr Colin Richmond, working on John Hopton of Blytburgh, has recovered the details of one of his estate-managers, Walter Fulbourne, whose chantry chapel in the S. aisle was already in service before he died in 1489. Its roof is the chief interior distinction of the church. The Wickham local historians displayed many old and new photographs of the town’s streets and buildings.

**Thorpe Hall,** approached over fields, is now a ‘deserted’ settlement site, a well-watered pasture, relatively high, with traces of old plough and garden land and a moated area yielding medieval pot sherds. Here as elsewhere in Suffolk, the ‘thorp’ has misled students into presuming a Danish settlement-name. It seems to derive from the HOLAPOLA and HOREPOLA of ten (small) Domesday Book entries (ff. 293b and 294), probably Old English for ‘mud-pool’. 27 households were recorded, excluding a small manor-house with 100 acres.

In **Charsfield church** (first visit by S.I.A.), Gwenyth Dyke illuminated the monuments with her account of the Sterlinge and Leman families, and Robert Large, a ‘scandalous minister’. At **Godwin’s Place, Hoo,** Miss Dyke indicated the questions raised by former house-sites outside the boundary-ditch of the Green, by 7 small enclosures, 2 moats with exterior earthworks, and the main great 3-sided moat round the much rebuilt house. **Folly Farm, Monewden,** another moated site, originated as an ancient hunting lodge at edge of deer-park. By 1710, lodge ruins rebuilt in brick and renamed Monewden Folly. Moat late and unusually wide and deep. **Little Cretingham,** contiguous, ‘deserted’. **Pettaugh Hall,** early-Stuart parlour with very good plaster ceilings.

**8 September**

**Chediston church.** ‘Stone’ element in place-name – Domesday Book Cedestan, etc. – suggests original Cedd’s stone. Sequel: Gilbert Burroughes has found, in woods behind the Hall, a fractured erratic boulder of very great size – presumably the eponymous stone associated with Cedd. Mr Burroughes described his field-walking and aerial observation whereby he had identified two Romano-British sites on old glebe land at Grange Farm, and another, with substantial building suggested, E. of church. Mesolithic flints also found. Observation continues.
EXCURSIONS

Wissett church. Adrian Talbot told of correlating field-walking pottery finds with evidence in court rolls. Manor-house site just S. of church and park S. of that; medieval settlement in Bunting's Lane, N. of present street. Anglo-Norman window-heads in tower shown by Mr Talbot to retain plaster impressions of original masons' moulding boards, and even fragment of actual board. He hopes to publish this in full. Fine bronze head from Roman vessel, found in recent years, examined by all members. Further sequel to Institute's visit: outline of apse discovered by Mr Talbot by probing E. of chancel. At Bleach Farm, Peter Northeast explained the history of ancient farmhouse on fine moated site, one of the properties of the linen-weaving family of Aldred (see Suffolk Review, 2, 82-5). Lunch in grounds of Spexhall Manor, 16th-century farmhouse more than doubled in size in 1908 'restoration'.

In Spexhall church, Mrs Judith Middleton-Stewart told of her investigations into manor sites. Spexhall Manor seen to be on site of Burghard's Manor, and Spexhall Hall on that of Banyard's Manor. Scroby/Rivet manor house stood in (later) Spexhall Wood, W. of present Stone Street. Fairstead Farm so-called from famous Halesworth bullock fair held on one of its fields for over 100 years. An article is in preparation.

Westhall church. Excursions Sec., with Richard Freeman and Peter Warner, spoke about the architectural history of the church.

Norman Scarfe, Hon. Excursions Secretary

LECTURES

February 10 At Bury St Edmunds: 'The poor man's Bible as depicted in medieval churches in painting, glass and sculpture', by Mr John Salmon, B.A., F.S.A.


October 13 At Bury St Edmunds: 'The art of Stone Age man', by Mr J. J. Wymer, M.A., F.S.A.

November 10 At Ipswich: 'Recent research on Fenland landscapes and settlements', by Mr D. N. Hall, M.A.

December 8 At Bury St Edmunds: 'Neolithic causewayed enclosures', by Mr P. L. Drewett, B.SC., F.S.A.
SUFFOLK INSTITUTE OF ARCHAEOLOGY AND HISTORY

RECEIPTS AND PAYMENTS YEAR ENDED 31st DECEMBER 1979

Receipts  £  £
Cash at Bank, 31 December 1978  4,445.03
Subscriptions, Nett  1,948.42
Excursions Receipts  23.50
Lectures Receipts  21.25
Donation  7.00
Investment Income:
  British Savings Bonds, 9½%  95.00
  Life Membership Fund  42.67
  Bank Interest  306.35
Proceedings:
  Sales  203.48
  Publication Grants:
    Council for British Archaeology  100.00
    Department of the Environment  51.75
    Marc Fitch Fund  200.00
  Total  555.23

Proceedings:  Vol. xxxiv, pt. 2:
  Printing  2,212.50
  Postage (part)  8.70
  Vol. xxxiv, pt. 3:
  Editorial Expenses  10.00

Receipts  £  £
Grant: Borough of Ipswich  46.00
Lectures Expenses  35.20
Newsletter: Duplicating and Postage  165.20
General Printing and Stationery  90.33
Subscriptions and Donations to Kindred Societies  44.00
Office Expenses, Postage, etc.  26.00
Excursions Expenses  74.19
Cash at Bank, 31 December 1979:
  Current Account  133.67
  Deposit Account  1,154.91
  Trustee Savings Bank  2,449.75
  British Savings Bonds 9½%  1,000.00
  Total  4,738.33

£7,444.45

I have audited the accounts and books of the Institute and, in my opinion, the accounts give a true and fair view of the state of the Institute's affairs as at 31 December 1979.
30 January 1980

(signed) D. E. COLYER, Honorary Auditor

RESEARCH AND EXCAVATIONS FUND

Balance at 31 December 1978  442.26
Grant: Borough of Ipswich  50.00
Bank Interest  41.31

£533.57

LIFE MEMBERSHIP FUND

Balance at 31 December 1978  680.00
Subscription  35.00
Donation from Life Member  50.00
Interest:
  S.C.D.C. Bonds  34.48
  Income Tax refund  2.40
  9½% Savings Bonds  5.79
  Total  42.67

To General Account (Investment Interest)  42.67

Suffolk Coastal District Council  680.00
13% Bonds, 7 years  85.00
9½% British Savings Bonds  680.00

£807.67
MEMBERS ELECTED DURING 1979

During the year 94 members were elected and, after taking into account resignations, the net increase in membership was 52. The membership of 780 comprised: 495 ordinary members, 181 associate members, 26 life members, 5 honorary members and 73 libraries and institutions.

Acock, Mr & Mrs O. C., Robincroft, Shadowbush, Poslingford, Sudbury.
Addison, Mr & Mrs R. J., Curlew Croft, Back Road, Wen LASTon, Halesworth.
Allen, Dr D. H., 105 Tuddenham Avenue, Ipswich.
Austin, M. & Mrs K. J., 78 Leiston Road, Aldeburgh.
Baldock, Mr & Mrs P. E., 105 Withersfield Road, Haverhill.
Brown, Mr & Mrs K. C., The Cottage, Great Bealings, Woodbridge.
Brown, Mr & Mrs K. J., 78 Leiston Road, Aldeburgh.
Cock, Mrs C. M., White Lodge, Washbrook, Ipswich.
Conway, Wg Cmdr & Mrs A. G., 3 Castle Rise, Haughley, Stowmarket.
Curtis, Dr & Mrs R., Eastfield House, Barton Mills, Bury St Edmunds.
Cytacki, Mr & Mrs J., Willow Cottage, Bury Road, Thorpe Morieux, Bury St Edmunds.
Driver, Mrs J. M., 81 Springfield Road, Lower Somersham, Ipswich.
Fiske, P. J., Walnut Tree Farm, Burstall, Ipswich.
Fussell, G. J., 9 Kensington Road, Ipswich.
Gibson, Dr Gail McMurray, Dept. of English, Princeton University, Princeton, New Jersey, U.S.A.
Gidzewicz, Mrs Doris, The Firs, Main Road, Martlesham, Woodbridge.
Grise, Mrs Harman, 58 High Street, Debenham, Stowmarket.
Hall, Miss K. M., Woodlands, Constitution Hill, Ipswich.
Harper, Mrs G. MacG., Greencross, Kelsale, Saxmundham.
Hatfield, M. C., St Ambrose Cottage, Fen Lane, Earl Stonham, Stowmarket.
Holmes, Mr & Mrs M. F., Playford Grange, Great Bealings, Woodbridge.
Honore, Mr & Mrs M., Acorns, Great Bealings, Woodbridge.
Knight, Mr & Mrs A. W., 28 Crofton Road, Ipswich.
Lacy-Scott, Mr & Mrs H., Poplar Meadow, Thurston, Bury St Edmunds.
Langdon, Dr & Mrs T. C., Perreells, Tye Green, Glensford, Sudbury.
Laverton, Mr & Mrs K. D., Monkey Lodge, Framlingham, Suffolk.
Marriott, Mrs D., 67 Constable Road, Ipswich.
Moore, I. E., 20 Southfield Close, Newmarket.
Morris, Mr & Mrs W. D., Suncroft, Martlesham Road, Little Bealings, Woodbridge.
Norrington, Mr & Mrs M. V., Manor Farm, Bredfield, Woodbridge.
Panher, Mr & Mrs G. H., 419 Woodbridge Road, Ipswich.
Parish, P. G., 3 Victory Road, Ipswich.
Pexton, Mr & Mrs S. V., Huntsman & Hounds Cottage, The Street, Metfield, Harleston, Norfolk.
Philip, Mr & Mrs R. J., 35 Preston Drive, Ipswich.
Pood, S., White Horse Cottage, Chapel Road, Otley, Ipswich.
Pring, P., Lannock Manor, Hitchin, Herts.
Reckitt, Miss M. H. V., 85 Westerfield Road, Ipswich.
Roberts, Mr & Mrs J. T., 5 Faulkners Way, Trimley St Mary, Ipswich.
Sherwood, Mrs M. A., Prospect House, Kiln Lane, Stowlangtoft, Bury St Edmunds.
Simpkin, Dr & Mrs R. C., Candelwell Cottage, Crown Lane, Ixworth, Bury St Edmunds.
Spence, Lady J., Garden Hill, Sandy Lane, Woodbridge.
Tattersall, Mr & Mrs R. L. O., Anchor House, The Street, Nacton, Ipswich.
1979

Taylor, Mr & Mrs M. E., 59 Henley Road, Ipswich.
White, Mr & Mrs A., 25 Crofton Road, Ipswich.
Williams, Mrs J. M., Timbers, Fynn Lane, Tuddenham, Ipswich.
Worster, Mr & Mrs N. G., Sun Croft, Aldeburgh Road, Aldringham, Leiston.

INSTITUTION

East Suffolk College of Agriculture & Horticulture, Otley, Ipswich.
Blue glass bowl from Long Melford.

Pembroke College, Cambridge, MS. 16, f. 19 verso.

by courtesy of the Librarian, Pembroke College, Cambridge

E. P. McLachlan
PLATE XIXa

Tuddenham: medieval standard with new straight grained wood spliced on to base.

PLATE XIXb

Great Bealings: poppy head adapted from the Morrison crest (a cubit arm in armour holding in the gauntlet a branch of oak fructed proper).

C. Brown
ADDENDA AND CORRIGENDA TO VOLUME XXXIV

IPSWICH BLACKFRIARS

p. 15, l. 4: for John Joshua Kirby read Joshua Kirby.

EXCAVATIONS AT IPSWICH BLACKFRIARS

p. 25, l. 11, 12: for 1884 read 1889.

p. 31, l. 18: for Fig. 10 read Fig. 8.

p. 34, l. 35: for 1884 read 1889.

WOOLVERSTONE HALL


p. 62, para. 3: The white marble fireplaces in the dining room (c) and study (A) at Woolverstone are also to be associated with Johnson's work. The voluptuous dining room fireplace is almost identical with that at 38 Grosvenor Square (*Survey of London*, xxxix, Pl. 17c); a fireplace at 63 New Cavendish Street is also very similar; they could well be the work of John Bacon (1740–99). Each fireplace features classical nymphs on pedestals, the two at Woolverstone holding a lute and a comic mask respectively. The study fireplace at Woolverstone is closely related in design to another fireplace at 38 Grosvenor Square.

*Delete* reference to a possible association with Hopper or Rossi.

EXCURSIONS, 1977

p. 154, l. 21: for 1484 read 1474.

CHAPEL OF ST EDMUND POUNTENAY

pp. 171–79: In 1974 the St Edmund of Abingdon Memorial Trust was founded with the main object of maintaining St Edmund's Chapel at Dover. The formation of the Trust attracted publicity which brought news of parish churches dedicated to St Edmund in Nottinghamshire and elsewhere. Despite the solitary record of a pilgrimage from Ipswich to his shrine it now seems probable that the dedication of the Ipswich chapel, as of these churches, was due to the short-lived cult of St Edmund, rather than to any special connection between the saint and the town. In France, twice-yearly pilgrimages still continue to his shrine in Pontigny Abbey, where the inscription describes him as 'Protector of Burgundy and England.'

The author is indebted to Mr J. C. Neville Wood, M.A., Chief Executive, Vale of White Horse District Council (who quotes Mr Ernest Nicholson, founder of the Trust) for this information.
p. 273, l. 16: for Maud read Anna.

p. 271, l. 3: after false assumption add John Tasburgh IV’s accounts for 1593—94 show that he spent 7s. 2d. on repairs to ‘ye Ile at St Peters church’; presumably this was the family chapel (S.R.O., HA 12/E1/12/77).
INDEX TO VOLUME XXXIV

The text page numbers are shown in roman figures; italic figures denote page numbers of illustrations.

A
Abbot, Alice, 126n
Abingdon, St Edmund of, see Rich,
Archbishop
— (Berks), Majesty statues, 255–9
Acton, Nath., 200
Adam, Robt, 63, 300
Aethelfrith, King of
Northumberland, 252, 253
Aethelwold, Benedictal,
258n
Agas, Joan, 40
Aidan, St, 253
Aldeburgh, 38, 289
Aldham, 192
Aldred family, 302
Aldwich, Thos, als Carver, 154
Aldwulf, King of East Anglia, 251
Alfred jewel, 1, 3, 5, 11
Alington, Giles and Ursula (nee
Drury), 126n
Allen, Wm, 176
Alpheton, 42
Amiens, 'Boy Bishop', 87
Amers, Edm., 184
Amsterdam, enamelwork, 5, 11
Andenimach, Roman brooch, 240, 242
Andrew, Jas and Margery (nee
Heveningham), 263–7
—, —, murder of, 264
—, John, 263, 265, 266, 267n
Andrews, Thos, 104
—, Miss, 104, 114
Anselm, Bishop of Bury, 257, 259n
— Archbishop of Canterbury, 257
Anstis, John, 103
Antioch, enamework, 8, illus. 7
Antwerp, Carmen Paschale MS, 255
Appleton, Rev. Thos, 42
Ardach chalice, 3, 5, 11
Argentine, Rev. John, 43
Arms of Suffolk families, 103–126
Ashby, Thos, 116
Ashby, 44, 46n
Ashby, 44, 46n, 47n
Ashfield, Robt and Maud (nee
Tasburgh), 271, 272, 273
—, 44, 47
Ashley, 73
Aslake, Rev. Wm, 114–5
Asplall, John, 110
Assington, Old Farmhouse, 183
Audele, Rev. Thos, 43
Audley End (Es.), 277
Austria, enamework, 10
Aylesbury ( Bucks), 274
B
Bacon, Edm., 110
—, John and Margaret, 113
—, John and Margery (nee Tyllot),
110, 119, 124n, 126n
—, Nath., 105
—, Sir Nich., Lord Keeper, 100n,
104–5, 110, 124n
Bacoton, 42, 65
Badingham, 42
Bagendon brooches, 240, 242–3,
illus. 241, no. 3a
Bagington (Warwicks.), pot stamps,
165
Bakeler, John, 38
Baker, Robt, 181, 190n
—, Wm, 184
Barber, Mary see Boldero
Barbour, John, 264, 265
Bardwell, Sir Wm, 107–8, 125n
—, Church monuments, 107–8,
123n
—, Hall Farm, 73
Barett, John, 36
Barett, John, 36
Barham, 73, 147, 213, 293
—, Iron Age house and oven, 293
Barker, Robt, 116
—, Thos, 125n
Barnack (Northants), Church of St
John the Baptist, carved panels, 4,
10, illus. 6
Barnardiston, Sir Nath., 299
Barret, John, 264, 265
Barrow, Thos and Maria, 120
Barton, Church monuments, 120
—, Great, 73, 104, 105, 126n, 129,
213
—, —, Hall, 129, 130, 135n
—, Mills, 73
Batayle, Robt, 113
Bateman, Geo., 275
—, Thos, 272, 273, 274, 275
Bath, Sir John, Earl of, see
Bourchier
—, Wm Earl of, see Bourchier
Bayham, John, 264, 265
Bealings, Great, St Mary’s Church,
woodcarving, 286, 300, Pl. XIXb
—, Little, 73
Bec Abbey, 299
Beccles, 39, 40, 43, 67, 69, 70
Bede, The Venerable, Historica
Ecclesiastica, 251, 252, 253
Bedford, Duke of, see Hatfield,
Jasper de
Bedingfield, Ant., 107
—, Edw., 107
—, Grace, 125n
—, Sir Henry, 117
Bedlington (Northumb.), Viking
great, enamelwork, 3, 4
Belstead, 105
Belynges, Silvester de, 171, 172, 178n
Benhall, 147
—, Lodge, 62
Bennet, Ann, 104, 114
Bens, Joanne, 113
Bentley Hall, 155, 225
Bergham, John de, 172, 178n
Berlin, enamelwork, 9
Berners, Geof. Hugh, 62
—, Wm, 59
Bets, Robt, 185, 190
Bildston, 42, 43, 46n, 184, 185
Bird de Claxton, Thos, 178
Birken, Rev. Geo, 274
Blackbourne Hundred, 188, 196, 224
Blackenham, John de, 178
Blackwell, Rev. Geo., 274
Blagg, T., 225
Blake, Sir Patrick and Annabella
(née Bunbury), 129, 135n
Blase, Rich., 264, 265
Blatchly, J. M., 23n, 81, 82
 Blickling (Norf.), 43
Bledhall, 108
Blomefield, F., 87
Blomefield, F., 87, 88, 91, 100n
Blythburgh, 41, 73
—, Holy Trinity Church, 155–6
Blything Union, 193, 202

309
Bodney Hall, 277
Boldero, Francis and Bridget (née Chitting), 104
— Mary, 104
Bolton, Alice, 108, 123
Bon, John, Abbot, 110
Bond, Francis, 171
Borchgrave d'Altena, Majesties statues, 259n
Borrett, Edm., 182
Boscawen, Geo. and Annabella (née Bunbury), 129, 130, 135n
Bosmere Union, 198
Boston (Lincs), Blackfriars, 20
Boteler, Nich., 264, 265
Botiler, Peirs and Maria 109
Botolph, St, 155
Boudiccan revolt, 232, 240
Bourchier, Sir John, Lord Fitzwarren, Earl of Bath and Elinor (née Manners), 104, 106, 123n
— Sir John, Lord Fitzwarren and FranceS (née Kitson), 106, 107
— Susan and Bridget, 106, 107
— William, Earl of Bath, 107
'Boy Bishop' or St Nicholas tokens, 87-101, passim
— classification, 93-8, Pl. VIII-XI
— Finds, 88, 98-9
— mould, 89, Pl. VIIia and b
— symbolism and legends, 90-1
Bradfield Combust, 104, 147
— St Clare, 46n
— St George, 105, 124n
—, Church monuments, 119
Bradwell-juxta-Mare (Ess.), Bradwell Lodge, 61, 62
Braintree (Ess.), Roman road, 229
Brancaster (Norf.), 40
—, Saxon shore fort, 143
Brandon, 73
Brandon, Chas, Duke of Suffolk, 111, 114
— Mary (wife), Duchess of Suffolk (former Queen of France), 111, 120, 124n
—, 73-4, 184, 213, 289, 290
—, Bronze Age sword, 281-2, illus. 281
— excavations, 295-4
— Ferry, 46n
Brantham, 74, 147
Bravender, J., 203
Breckland, 161, 168, 196-7
Brickwell (Herts), 273
Brigette, Rev. Edm., 42
Briggs, N., 82
Brightwell & Foxhall, Dobbs Corner, round barrows, 292
Bristol, Augustus, Earl of, 125n
—, Blackfriars, 16, 22
Britulf the Saxon, 1
Brockfeld, 182
Brome, 46n
—, Church monuments, 114-5, 123n, 125n
—, Obituary, 71
—, Cynthia, 285-6
— Lancelot (also Capability), 300
—, Robt, 264
Brownwyn, Robt, 114
Bruce-Mitford, Rup. L. S., 251, 252, 253, 254, 288
Brunswick, St Blasius Cathedral, enamelwork, 5, 12n
Brychemor, John, 39
Buckhurst, Lord, see Sackville, Thos
Buckingham, Chris., 177
Bucklesham, 74, 147
Bures, Hen. 120
Bulcamp Marshes, 73
Bunbury, Annabella, 129, 135n
—, Chas John, 130, 135n
—, Hen. Edw., 130
—, Hen. Wm and Catherine (née Horneck), 129-30, 135n
—, Susannah, 135n
—, Thos Chas and Lady Sarah (née Lennox), 129-30, 135n
—, Wm and Eleanor (née Graham)
Bungay, 74, 264, 265, 272, 274, 290
—, Priory, 37
Bures, 42
Burgage, Rev. John, 55-6, 57
—, Rebecca and Sarah, 55-6
Burgh, 46n
—, Castle, Roman mars barb, 141-3, illus. 142
—, St Botolph's Church, 155
—, Saxon shore fort, 142, 143n
Burke, Edm., 129
Burnham Deepside (Norf.), 43
— Thorpe (Norf.), 43
Burton, Rev. John, 42
Bury St Edmunds, 147-8, 185, 193, 213, 290
—, Abbey excavations, 74, 88, 98, 294
— gatehouse (Norman Tower), 90, 98
— translation of St Botolph's bones, 155
—, vineyards, 94, 98, 147, 148
—, Abbey Scriptorium, 257
—, Abbot of, 265
—, Athenaum, 135n
— 'Boy Bishop' tokens, 74, 87-101, Pls. VIII-XI
—, Church of St Edmund, 88
—, St James, monuments, 113-4, 125n
— St John, 88
— St Mary, 90, 98, 105
— — — — — — monumants, 111-3, 124n
— Douze Guild, 95, 100n
— Henhowe, abbot's hall of pleas for the Liberty, 266n
—, case of James
Andrew, 263, 264, 265
—, Hospital of St Nicholas, 92
—, King Edward VI School, 135n
—, liturgical drama, 12th century, 255-61
—, Pembroke Coll.
Camb. MS 16, 225-9, Pl. XVIIIb
— Market on Cornhill, 88
—, Moyse's Hall Museum,
— 'Boy Bishop' tokens, 88, 89, 90, 92, 100n, Pls. VIII, IX, XI
—, Bronze Age sword, 281: illus. 281
—, — — —, cruciform brooch, 161, 166-7, illus. 166a and b
—, — — —, pot stamp, 167, 168n, Pl. XVI
—, — — —, recreation ground, 94, 98
—, Register, 15th century, in Douai, 259n
—, Registrum Nigrum, 105
—, Rougham Hill, 96, 99
—, Widow's Coffee House, 133
Butley, 74
—, Burrow Hill, excavation, 213
— Priory, 44
—, Gatehouse, 224, Pl. XVII
Byngle, Rev. Thos, 46
Byzantine enamelwork, 1, 5, 8, 10, 11, illus. 7

C
Caddingham, Wm, 110
Cadenham, Wm, Abbot, 124n
<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Page</th>
<th>Index to Volume XXXIV</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Cadye, Wm and Katherine, 299</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Caister (Norf.), 44</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>— by Norwich (Norf.), pot stamps, 164, 165</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Caius, Dr, 272</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Calais, 1436 expedition, 266</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Caldecott, J. B., 88, 97, 100</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Caldehorpe, Eliz., 82, 112, 125n</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Calver, Chas, 70</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Jas, 69–70</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Sam., 70</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Cambridge, 'Boy Bishop' tokens, 88</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Pembroke College MS 16, St Gregory the Great’s sermons, 255–9, Pl. XVIIb</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Campbell, Rev. Donald, vicar of Eye, 50, 57</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Campsey Ash, 42</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Canterbury (Kent), 264</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Archbishopric, visitations to Norwich diocese, 1499, 35–47</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Cathedral MS, 258n</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Cloister Garth, St Augustine’s, enamelwork, 8, 10, 11, 18, illus. 6</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Cane, Thos., 113</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Capel St Andrew, 200</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Tangham Forest, round barrow, 292</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Cardiff, Blackfriars, 20, plan 21</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Carewe, Franc., 111</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, John and Margaret, 111, 124n</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Sir Wm and Margaret (née Drury), 111</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Carlton Colville, 214</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Castellani (Italy), enamelwork, 5</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Castellesi, Adrian, Cardinal, 56</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Castelspero, S: Maria Foris Portas, frescoes, 256, 259n</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Castle Acre, enamelwork, 9</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Caudle Head, Red Deer Horn stamp, 168, illus. 166n</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Caudnysh, Thos., 264, 266n</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Cauley, Munro, 300</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Cavendish, Sir Chas and Margaret (née Kitson), 107</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, 43, 46n</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Cavenham, 290</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Cerney, South (Glos), wooden sculpture, 259n</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Chamberlain, Sir Ralph, 119, 126n</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Chambers, Thos., 264, 266n</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Wm, 59</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Chambre, Thos., 264, 265</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Walt de, 264</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Chapman, Edw., 117</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Fitzrose, 119, 126n</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Charles, Nich., 103</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Charsfield, 74</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Church monuments, 301</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Chedburgh, 46n</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Chedleston, Romano-British sites, 301</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Chedworth, Margaret, 129n</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Cheke, Sir John, 299</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Chelmondiston, 74</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Roman road, 229, 235, 253</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Shire Hall, 61</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Chester, Earl of, see Lupus.</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Cesh., 255</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Chesterford, Little (Ess.), 223</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Chevington, 42</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Chilton by Sudbury, Thatch Cottage, 183</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Chipping, Bridget, 104</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Geo., 104</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Hen. (senior) and Bridget (née Wright), 104</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, John and Mary, 114</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Nath., 105</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Thos and Ann (née Gipps), 104, 113, 114</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Chorography of Suffolk, The, 283–4</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Church monuments, 105–26, 277, 283</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Church, Rog., visitations to Norwich diocese, 35–6, 37, 39, 45</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Clactonian Industry, 293</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Clare, Rich. de, 178n</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, 185, 187, 190n</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Swan Inn, 188, 190</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Clark, Thos and Ann, 113, 125n</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Clarence, R. Rainbird, 208</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Glassmont (Glatt.), 59</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Claydon, 74</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Clermont-Ferrand, golden Majesty statue, 255</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Clopton, Alice, 122</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Anne, 122</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Margerie (née Drury), 122</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Thos, 122</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Walt., 122</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Wm (d. 1416), 121</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Wm and Margerie (née Frauncyes), 122</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Nath., 105</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Thos and Ann (née Gipps), 104, 113, 114</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Church, Rog., visitations to Norwich diocese, 35–6, 37, 39, 45</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Clactonian Industry, 293</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Clare, Rich. de, 178n</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, 185, 187, 190n</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Swan Inn, 188, 190</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Clark, Thos and Ann, 113, 125n</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Clarence, R. Rainbird, 208</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Glassmont (Glatt.), 59</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Claydon, 74</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Clermont-Ferrand, golden Majesty statue, 255</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Clopton, Alice, 122</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Anne, 122</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Margerie (née Drury), 122</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Thos, 122</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Walt., 122</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Wm (d. 1416), 121</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Wm and Margerie (née Frauncyes), 122</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Nath., 105</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>—, Thos and Ann (née Gipps), 104, 113, 114</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

---

311
— —, Whitefriars, 23n
Crabbe, Geo., 211
Cramp, Rosemary, 253
Cranbrook, 4th Earl, see Gathorne-Hardy, J. D.
Crane, John, 264
— —, Robt and Anna, 122
Crask, Rev. Robt, 110, 124n
cranbrook, 4th earl, see Gathorne-Hardy, J. D.
Crane, John, 264
— —, Robt and Anna, 122
Crask, Rev. Robt, 110, 124n
cranbrook, 4th earl, see Gathorne-Hardy, J. D.
Crane, John, 264
— —, Robt and Anna, 122
Crask, Rev. Robt, 110, 124n
cranbrook, 4th earl, see Gathorne-Hardy, J. D.
Crane, John, 264
— —, Robt and Anna, 122
Crask, Rev. Robt, 110, 124n
cranbrook, 4th earl, see Gathorne-Hardy, J. D.
Crane, John, 264
— —, Robt and Anna, 122
Crask, Rev. Robt, 110, 124n
cranbrook, 4th earl, see Gathorne-Hardy, J. D.
INDEX TO VOLUME XXXIV

Emms (or Eames), Matt., pipemaker, 67
Enamelwork, 1–13 passim
Endgate, 42, 46n
Enger reliquary, 5, 9, 12n
Eorpwald, son of Raedwald, 251, 252
Erwstown, 74, 148
—, Lode, 168
Erwarton Hall, 82, 155, Pl. VII
Es, Dr W. A. van, 9
Everard, Olyffe, 270
—, Rich., 117, 125n
Everett, Alice, 184
Exeter, Duke of, 264
Exning, 42, 223
—, 'Boy Bishop' tokens, 88, 94, 99, excavation, inhumations, 294
Eye, 49–58, 199, 290
—, Church and Cookley Farmhouse, 224
—, excavations, 218
—, Mr Dormond's School, 276
—, Priory Guest House, 292
—, Rook Hall barn, 292
—, Vicarage, 49–58, Pl. IV, plans
49, 32
Eyer, John, 114
Eyke, 46n
Farnham St Mary, Church, 224
Felbrigg, 123n, 125n
Felix, St, 251
Felixstowe, 200; 214
—, Walton Priory, 283
Felsham, Church monuments, 108–9, 123n
Femmot de Intwood, John, 178
Fenland, bronze rapiers, 282
—, farming, 196–7, 203
Fenton, Elijah, 54
Fieldear, John, 70
Filton Hall (Kent), 283
Fimber Church (Yorks), grooved ware, 205
Finneux, John, 113
Fisher, Archbishop, 287
Fitzwarren, John, Lord, and Lady Frances (née Kitson), 106, 107, 123n, 124n
—, Susan and Bridget, 106
Fitzwilliam, Edw., 263, 265
Flamborough (Yorks), grooved ware, 205
Flamworth, 108
Flanders, 'Boy Bishop' tokens, 87
Flaxton, 270–9
—, Abbey, 270
—, Boyse Hall, 270, 275, 276
—, Church, monument to Margaret Tasburgh, 277
—, Hall (or New Hall), 270, 275, 276
—, Manor (late Priory), 270, 271, 273, 276, 277
—, Parish, 272
Florence, Santa Croce Franciscan house, 22
Fornham St Genevieve, 47n, 182
Framlingham, Sir Chas, 155
—, Rev. Roger, 35
—, 74, 263, 264
—, Farmers' Club, 193
—, Gawdy, 276
Franks, enamelwork, 5, 8, 9, illus. 7
Frauncyes, Elie, 122
—, Margerie, 122
Freckenham, 148
Fresel, Walt., 1
Fressingfield, 129, 148, 185, 190n, 290
Frost, Wm, 184
Frostenden, 46n, 47n
Fulbourne, Walt., 501
G
Gage, Sir Edw. Rokewode, 103
—, John, 103
—, Sir Thos Rokewode, 103
Garboldisham (Norf.), 270
Gardiner, Sir Robt, 103
—, John, 103
—, Sir Thos Rokewode, 103
Gasnet, Mr, 173
Gathorne-Hardy, John David, 4th Earl of Cranbrook, obituary, 211
Gayton, Rev. Paul, 42
Geard, John B., 192
Geary, Ron., 223
Gedding, Margerie, 110
—, Robt, 110
—, Church monuments, 119, 126n
George, Edw., 36
Gill, John and Joan (née Trace), 271, 272
Gilray, Jas, 132, 135, 134, Pl. XV
Gilton (Kent), enamelwork, 3
Glyde, John, 25
Glynne, Sir Stephen, 125n
Golding, C., 88, 100
Golding-Caldecott collection of 'Boy Bishop' tokens, 88
Goldingham, Dorothy, 105
—, Jane, 120, 126n
Goldsmith, Oliver, 129, 130, 135n
Goldwell, Jas, Bishop, 35, 37, 116–7, 125n
—, Jane, 120, 126
—, Rev. Nich., 42, 45
Goslyn, Wm, 182
Graham, Eleanor, 129
—, Col. Vere, 129
Grangia de Playford, John de, 178n
Gray, Margaret de, 113
—, Wm de, 115
Greene, Kevin T., 234
Gregory, Pope, 253
—, IX, Pope, 171
—, the Great, St, MS of sermons, see Camb. Univ. Pembroke Coll.
Griffin, Sir John, 83
Grooved ware or Rinyo-Clacton ware, 205–6
Grose, Franc., drawing of Erwarton Hall, Pl. VII
Grundisburgh, Church, 300
—, Hall, 155
Guestwick, 45
Gurney, And., 185
Gwyn, Col. and Mary (née Horneck), 129, 130
H
Hacheston, 74–5
—, Roman settlement, 225
Hadleigh, 198, 200, 214
—, 'Boy Bishop' tokens, 99n
—, Cosford Hall, 183
—, excavations, 294
—, Market, 192
Hakewill, E. C., 286, 299, 300
—, Hen., 500
Halesworth, 202
—, Chediston Street, clay pipe kiln, 67–70, illus. 69, plans 68
313
Picardy, 'Boy Bishop' tokens, 87
Pitsford (Northants), 60
Playford see Grangia de Playford, John de
— Mount, 300
Plomesgate Union, 193, 200–1
Plough, John, 275
Polley, Wm, woodcarver, 286
Polstead, 181, 216
Pontigny, St Edm. of, see Rich., Archbishop of
Pope, Alex., 54
Porter, Endymion, 276
Potkyn, Wm, 36
Pountenay (or Polteneye); Sir John de,
217
Preston, Thos, 105
Purdy, Rev. Rich., 44
Pynnes, John, 38
Pype, John, 117, 125n
R
Raedwald, High King of E. Anglia and Queen, see Sutton Hoo ship burial
Ramsholt, 44, 47n
Rastall, Rich., 182
Rattlesden, John, Abbot, 110
—, Thos, Abbot, 124n, 154
—, 184
Raynham, H., 198, 199–200, 201
Reach, Devis Dyke, 223
Redenese, Rev. Wm de, 110, 124n
Redgrave, 104
Rector, John Abbot, 111, 124n
Regularus Concordia, 255
Rendlesham, 2nd Lord, 224
—, 251
—, Hall, 300
—, St Gregory's Church, 155
Reports of Poor Law Inspectors on agric. statistics, 1854, 191
Reymerston, 59
Reynor, Robt, 38
Reynolds, Sir Jos., 129, 130, 135n
—, Thos., 188
—, Walt., Archbishop, 35
Reynsford, Eliz., 121
Rheingonheim, bronze ornament, 246
Rhineland, enamework, 8, 9, 10.
Rice, Wm, 188
Rich, Edm., Archbishop of Canterbury (as St Edm. of Abingdon, St Edm. of Pontigny, St Edm. de Pountenay), 171–9
—, connection with Ipswich, 171–2
Richardson, Sir Alb., 223
Richborough Castle (Kent), Roman mars-barbs, 141, 142
Richmond, Audrey, 120
—, Duke of, 129
—, Rich., Lord, 120
Rickinghall Inferior, 46n, 187
Ridland, Rich., 154
Rieuxval (Yorks.), Cistercian Abbey, 23n, 100n
Ringfield, Simon, 110
Ringham, Hen., woodcarver, 285–6
Ringstead, 45
—, Rich., Prior, 110, 124n
Rinyo Clacton or grooved ware, 205–6
Rippengate, John, 188
Risano (Dalmatia), enamelwork, 8, 11, illus. 7
Risby, 216
—, St Giles Church, 156
Robertson, Rev. John, 45
Robinson, Sir John, 83
—, Rev. Wm, 42
Rochester and Worcester diocese, 36
Roke, John Gage, 103, 123n
Rolleby (Norf.), 43
Roman forts on the Saxon shore, 142–3
— roads, Chelmsford to the Wash, 229, 233, 234, 300, maps 230, 233
—, Wixoe to Peasenhall, 234
— Settlement see Hacheston and Melford, Long
Rome, S. Maria Antiqua, Epiphany frescoes, 256, 259n
—, St John Lateran Church, 301
Rookes, Letitia, 133
Rookwood, Thos and Joanna (née Clopton), 122
—, Wm and Eliz. (née de Hilton), 122
Rouen, 'Boy Bishop' tokens, 88, 91, 92, 93, 94, 99, Pl. IXb
—, S. Maria Antiqua, Epiphany frescoes, 256, 259n
—, St John Lateran Church, 301
—, St John Lateran Church, 301
 —, Thomas, 301
—, monuments, 109, 110, 124n
—, Hall, 110, 124n
—, Sede vacante register, see Morton, Cardinal
Sedgefield (Durham), 171
Sedgemoor, Church of St Andrew, 299, 300
—, St Andrew, 76, 286
—, St Michael, 216
Russel and Hargreen's views of Ipswich Blackfriars, 23n
Sackville, John, 276
—, Thos, Lord Buckhurst, 273
St Albans (Herts), ivory comb
—, Eppiphany scene, 257
—, Psalter, 258n, 259n
—, Blaisius Cathedral (Brunswick), enamelwork, 5
—, Gilles-du-Gard, Magi figures, 259n
—, Ives (Hunts), 43
—, Joseph, J. K. S., 302
—, Maurice d'Agaune, enamelwork, 8, illus. 7
—, Neots, 'Boy Bishop' tokens, 88, 91, 92, 93, 94, 99, Pl. IXb
—, Odilienberg (Netherlands), enamelwork, 5
—, Osyth Abbey, 155
—, Victor, Adam of, 91
Salisbury diocese, 39, 171
Salmon, John, 302
Saluse, Rev. Robr, 42
Samford Union, 192, 197–8
Samson, Abbot, 156
Sandlings, 200, 202, 203
Sandon, Eric, 144
Saxham, Great, 291
—, Church, 300
—, enamelled disc, 1–13, 76, Pl. 1, illus. 6, map 2, diag. 1
—, Frizeler's Green, 1, 76, map 2
—, Hall, 300
—, drawings by Isaac Johnson, 300–1
—, Little, 46n, 103
—, Church, 301
—, monuments, 109, 110, 124n
—, Hall, 110, 124n
Saxmundham, 47n, 200
Saxon Shore, Count of, 143
— Shore, 142–3
Sayer, W., 174, plan 175c
Scarfe, Norman, 225
Seekford family, 300
—, Hall, 286
Sede vacante register, see Morton, Cardinal
Sedgefield (Durham), 171
Seman, Walt., 269
INDEX TO VOLUME XXXIV

— —, Hyde Abbey, enamelwork, 3
— —, Museum, 'Boy Bishop' tokens, 87, Pl. Xk
Window Tax, 188
Wинфaring, 39, 40
Wingfield, Francisca, 120
—, Hen. and Eliz., 120
—, Robt and Eliz., 120
—, Sir Robt, 263, 264, 265, 266n, 267n
— (Norf.), Castle, 263
Winston, 292
Wisset, Bleach Farm, 502
—, Church, 502
Witchingham (Norf.), 'Boy Bishop' tokens, 93, 99n
Witnesham, 201
Wix Abbey (Ess.), 129
Wixoe, 42
—, Roman road, 234
Wodderspoon, John W., 25, 172
Wolsey, Thos. Cardinal, 283
— —, —, coinage, 90, 92
Wolterton Hall (Norf.), 103
Wood, Rolf, 112
— Ditton, 223
Woodbridge, 77, 81, 150, 182
— Union, 200–1, 217
Woodlands, Amesbury (Bucks), grooved ware, 205–6
Woodrising, 126n
Woolpit, 42, 46n, 184
— brick, 59
—, Church of St Mary, 119, 124n, 126n, 286
—, Lady's Well, 292
Woolverstone Hall, 59–64, Pl. Vb, b, Vc
Worcester, 36
Worlingham, Great, 46n, 217
Worthingworth, 42
Worthington, 47n, 104–5, 132
Wright, Bridget, 104
—, Robert, 104
Wroxeter, Roman mars-barbs, 141–2, illus. 142
Wybarne, John and Lettice (née Tasburgh), 279
Wydall (Herts), 271
Wyton, Wm, 38
Wymer, Margaret (née Toll), 269
Wyndham, John, 265

Y
Yaxham, 40
Yaxley, Nich., 117
Yngloss, Eliz., 108
—, Sir Hen., 108
York, Duke of, 130
—, 43
—, enamelwork, 9
Young, Art., 186, 196, 197, 201, 202
—, —, Farmer's tour through the east of England, 198, 200
—, —, General view of the agric. of Suffolk, 193, 199

321